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4. National Park Service Certification

I hereby certify that this property is:

Ared in the National Register

___ determined eligible for the National Register
___ determined not eligible for the National Register

__removed from the National Register

__ other (explain:)
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5. Classifi;ﬁ%ion
Ownership of Property

(Check as many boxes as apply.)
Private: X

Public — Local

Public — State

Public — Federal

Category of Property
(Check only one box.)

Building(s) X

District

Site

Structure

Object
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Number of Resources within Property
(Do not include previously listed resources in the count)

Contributing Noncontributing
2 0 buildings
0 0 sites
0 0 structures
0 0 objects
2 0 Total

Number of contributing resources previously listed in the National Register ___ N/A

6. Function or Use

Historic Functions

(Enter categories from instructions.)
DOMESTIC/single dwelling
DOMESTIC/secondary structure
RELIGION/religious facility

Current Functions
(Enter categories from instructions.)

DOMESTIC/single dwelling
DOMESTIC/secondary structure
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7. Description

Architectural Classification
(Enter categories from instructions.)
No Style

Materials: (enter categories from instructions.)
Principal exterior materials of the property:

WOOD/clapboard
CONCRETE
ASPHALT/shingle

Narrative Description

Summary Paragraphs

Located within the historic Broadwater Addition at the northwest side of Helena, the modest, wood-
frame, rectangular Haight - Bridgwater House stands on a narrow city lot. One of Helena’s main north-
south arteries, Benton Avenue, bounds the property to the east, and the Northern Pacific Railway tracks
run roughly east-west just two blocks north. The National Register-listed Benton Avenue Cemetery (NR
reference # 03000689) lies one block north of the property, and Carroll College Campus stands across
Benton Avenue to the east. The Broadwater Addition residential neighborhood surrounds the property to
the south and west.

Measuring twenty-four feet wide and forty-two feet deep, the Haight - Bridgwater House rests on a
concrete wall foundation at the west side of its narrow lot." Wood clapboard covers the exterior walls.
An asphalt-shingle hipped roof, topped with a gabled peak, covers the majority of the house, and a gable-
roofed kitchen extension constitutes the north side. A small shed-roofed entry projects from the south
facade’s west side, and a narrow hipped back porch fills the ell at the north end of the east elevation,
leading to the kitchen door. The west elevation’s north end contains a hipped enclosed addition within
the rectangular footprint, which contains the bathroom and laundry room. Throughout the house, the roof
displays boxed eaves with wood trim boards at the roof-wall junction. A single metal stovepipe protrudes
from high on the south side of the kitchen extension’s west slope.

A wood-frame, clapboard, L-shaped, historic garage occupies the north side of the property, set
perpendicular to the rear of the house, facing Benton Avenue. The building consists of a main gable bay
and a shed-roofed extension that projects from the north elevation.

Narrative Description
House (one contributing building)
South elevation

The house’s front elevation faces south to Peosta Avenue, and features an eight-and-one-half foot wide by
six-foot deep enclosed entry off-center to the west. The south-facing entry contains a centered, two-light,

! The concrete was likely applied to the outside of an existing foundation to provide extra stability.
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aluminum storm door flanked by single one-over-one, fixed, wood-frame windows. The entry’s east and
west elevations each display a centered pair of one-over-one, fixed, wood-frame windows. Within the
entry, a single modern, six-light-over-two-panel aluminum entry door occupies the original door opening.
The south elevation’s east side contains a tall, single, modern, vinyl, one-over-one, double-hung window
unit which mimics the original window’s design. A single row of wood shingles attached to a piece of
clapboard and set at a forty-five degree angle from the exterior wall, serves as a shallow awning above the
window opening. This awning treatment tops each of the original double-hung window openings around
the house.

East elevation

The house’s east elevation faces Benton Avenue, and features two single, evenly-spaced, vinyl, one-over-
one replacement windows within original openings across the hipped south bay. The elevation’s north
side steps back only slightly from the south bay, and contains an enclosed one-story back porch across the
east side of the gabled kitchen extension. The porch features wood-shingled half-walls below ribbons of
one-over-one wood-frame fixed windows. Two concrete steps lead to the two-light aluminum storm door
entry at the porch’s south end. A single window unit abuts the entry’s south side, and a pair of windows
fills the space to the north. Within the porch, a single centered nine-light modern door provides entry to
the kitchen.

West elevation

Largely obscured by vegetation, the west elevation contains two single, evenly spaced one-over-one vinyl
replacement windows within original openings across the hipped south bay. A shallow-hipped pre-1957
addition fills the ell created by the main south bay and the gabled kitchen extension. Containing a
bathroom and laundry room, this extension features a single, small, one-over-one replacement window
within an original opening. The extension’s siding matches the house’s original clapboard in material and
design.

North elevation

The kitchen extension constitutes the center bay of the north elevation. It features a single one-over-one
replacement window within an original opening set just off center to the west. Wide gable returns and
fascia highlight the gable end above, where a small metal louvered vent provides ventilation near the
peak. To the east, the enclosed porch features a pair of windows: a one-over-one casement to the west,
and a one-over-one fixed unit to the east. The west bathroom addition contains a single one-over-one
replacement window within an original opening at its north elevation’s east side.

Interior

The Haight - Bridgwater House’s interior consists of six rooms. Upon entry from the front (south) door,
the interior opens to a large living room that occupies the east side of the south hipped bay. Modern panel
doors lead to two bedrooms to the west. North beyond the living room is the kitchen, and a small laundry
room and bath fill the extension at the northwest corner of the house. The owners recently updated the
interior with modern carpet in the living room and bedrooms, and tile flooring in the kitchen, bath, and
laundry. Original woodwork includes wide baseboards, window trim, and door surrounds. Acoustic tile
covers the ceilings and plaster coats the walls in the south rooms of the house. The north end rooms
feature plaster and gypsum board ceilings and walls.

Garage (one contributing building)

The 1892 Sanborn map shows a small, rectangular, wood-frame garage at the north end of the property.
By 1930, a larger, L-shaped, wood-frame garage appears. It is likely, given the shed extension’s roofline
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connection to the gable roof’s north slope, that the existing garage dates to between 1892 and 1930, and
replaced the original outbuilding.” The present building features wood framing, beveled clapboard siding,
and an asphalt-shingle roof. Exposed rafter ends support the overhanging eaves. Plank sheathing remains
visible beneath the gable-end eaves. There is no visible foundation.

Exterior

The garage’s east elevation presents two bays: the southern main gable-ended bay, and the north shed
addition. A modern, metal, sixteen-panel overhead garage door fills the south bay, and a single, fixed,
four-light, wood-frame original window provides light to the north bay from its east elevation’s south
side. The north elevation contains a single, original window opening at the east side of the shed
extension. Plywood fills the opening. A single, historic, solid wood, five-panel pedestrian door provides
entry from the south elevation’s west end. A single, fixed-frame, six-light window appears just east of the
door. The garage’s west elevation displays no fenestration.

Interior

The garage’s unfinished interior consists of two rooms: the main parking bay to the south, and a storage
room with built-in wood shelves to the north. The garage features a concrete slab floor.

Integrity

Despite a few alterations, the Haight - Bridgwater House retains sufficient integrity to convey its
significance under Criterion A. The house and garage stand in their historic locations and settings,
bordering a historic residential neighborhood to the south and west, and a main north-south thoroughfare
to the east. Overall, the property’s integrity of design remains strong in that its structural system,
arrangement of spaces and pattern of fenestration remain unchanged from the historic period, as do the
textures of surface materials, and the type, amount, and style of ornamental detailing. Though the
bathroom addition at the northwest corner of the house has changed the massing slightly, the addition was
constructed by August 1957, within the period of significance, is small and unobtrusively set at the rear of
the house, discreetly placed within an ell. Though the introduction of non-historic window units does
impact the house’s integrity of materials, the modern vinyl units fit within the original openings and
display the same one-over-one double-hung design as the originals.

Likewise, the modern metal overhead garage door features raised panels and does not overly detract from
the garage’s integrity of design or materials. Original siding and trim on both buildings remain intact.
The property retains the physical features that, taken together, convey its historic character, and a strong
integrity of workmanship, feeling, and association.

% Montana tax records indicate the garage was constructed in 1901. 502 Peosta, Helena, MT. Records found at:
http://sve.mt.gov/msl/mtcadastral/ and accessed January 28, 2014.
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8. Statement of Significance

Applicable National Register Criteria
(Mark "x" in one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the property for National Register
listing.)

X A. Property is associated with events that have made a significant contribution to the
broad patterns of our history.

B. Property is associated with the lives of persons significant in our past.

C. Property embodies the distinctive characteristics of a type, period, or method of
construction or represents the work of a master, or possesses high artistic values,
or represents a significant and distinguishable entity whose components lack
individual distinction.

D. Property has yielded, or is likely to yield, information important in prehistory or
history.

Criteria Considerations
(Mark “x” in all the boxes that apply.)

X A. Owned by a religious institution or used for religious purposes

B. Removed from its original location

C. A birthplace or grave

D. A cemetery

E. A reconstructed building, object, or structure

F. A commemorative property

G. Less than 50 years old or achieving significance within the past 50 years

Section 8§ page 7
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Areas of Significance

(Enter categories from instructions.)
COMMUNITY PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT
SOCIAL HISTORY

Period of Significance
1890-1964

Significant Dates
1890, 1891, 1894, 1915

Significant Person
(Complete only if Criterion B is marked above.)
N/A

Cultural Affiliation
N/A

Architect/Builder
George B. Diehl, Builder

Statement of Significance Summary Paragraph

Constructed in 1890, the Haight — Bridgwater House’s modest architecture belies the significant history it
represents. Built as a residence during the height of Helena's prosperity and growth, the house represents
one of the oldest residences associated with the 1887-platted Broadwater #1 Addition, and is tied to the
city's continued community planning and development through the late nineteenth century. During this
period, both the house and the neighborhood addition itself were situated at the northernmost reaches of
the city's ambitious plan for expansion and development. Through the late 19" and early-mid 20"
centuries, the building served as an important gathering place and touchstone for both the Broadwater
neighborhood and the African-American community in the city, including a brief tenure as a Baptist
mission house. Further, the house embraces the story of three women, who each in their own right, faced
and overcame adversity during their time in Helena. Their experiences contribute to our understanding of
the social history of Helena during the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries. For these reasons,
the building is eligible for listing in the National Register under Criterion A.

Significant dates associated with the property include its date of its construction in 1890, and 1891 when
the house began to serve both as the original Immanuel Mission of Helena’s First Baptist Church and as
living quarters for the young Haight family. In 1915, the house became the Bridgwater family’s
residence, where generations would live for the next sixty years.

Section 8 page 8
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Because its significance in part derives from its association with community development associated with
the expansion of Helena during the late 19" century, social history, and the Baptist Church’s role in those
areas of significance, rather than the doctrinal teachings of the church, the property meets Criteria
Consideration A.

Narrative Statement of Significance (Provide at least one paragraph for each area of significance.)
Introduction

When the Haight - Bridgwater House was built, the city of Helena was only a few decades old, and
witnessing the apex of its first period of community development. Diverse groups of people — of different
religions, ethnicities, and economic status — strove to make Helena a prosperous and welcoming
community. Until 1893, the city of Helena witnessed a frenzy of construction as developers established
new neighborhoods as the population increased.

Built in the nascent Broadwater Addition #1, the house at 502 Peosta stood as one of a handful of small
homes constructed in the neighborhood as the bustling city pushed its borders west and north prior to the
Silver Panic of 1893 that significantly slowed the town’s growth. Soon after its construction, in 1891,
Hattie L. Haight purchased the house. In addition to providing living quarters for Hattie and her young
family, the house simultaneously served as the original Immanuel Mission of Helena’s First Baptist
Church in 1891 and 1892. By allowing the First Baptist Church in Helena to meet there, Hattie, a deeply
religious woman, provided members of the community a place to gather and learn. After the Haights
moved out the following year, Hattie continued to rent out the house following the death of her husband
in 1894, and sold it two years later, using the proceeds to enable her to regain guardianship of her son.’

When an active and admired African American family moved into the house in 1915, it became a socially
significant place for the city’s black community. The Bridgwater family was both representative of the
African American experience in Helena through the early twentieth century, and boasted the
extraordinary Bridgwater women, whose accomplishments speak to the struggle for racial equality, the
strength of the black community in Helena, and overcoming discrimination through World War II and
beyond.

Helena Background

When prospectors discovered gold in the gulch, they found this remote wilderness a most beautiful place.
Extensive placer mining quickly changed the landscape and with Montana’s three great placer gold
discoveries—at Grasshopper Creek in 1862, Alder Gulch in 1863, and Last Chance Gulch in 1864—the
mostly itinerate population moved from one discovery to the next. By 1865, Last Chance Gulch,
christened Helena, was a bustling camp.

Helena’s first non-Indian population mirrored that of Virginia City’s with miners, merchants, service-
providers, saloonkeepers, freighters, gamblers, and prostitutes forming a noisy, boisterous community.

? During the late nineteenth century, the legal system did not guarantee that widows retained custody of their children, and the
court required her to post a substantial bond.
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Within its first two years, Helena had formally established Protestant, Catholic, and Jewish cemeteries.
Businesses included 188 retail and wholesale houses; 45 of which were food stores. Helena boasted both
Democratic and Republican newspapers and a public school with one hundred students. Daily coaches
traveled from Helena to Salt Lake City or Fort Benton. A ticket from Helena to Corinne, Utah, on the
Wells Fargo Stage cost $145 and the trip took at least four and a half days, traveling twenty-four hours, to
cover the 550 miles. The arrival of the telegraph in 1866 provided a critical link with the States.*

With the end of the Civil War, more newcomers flooded into Montana Territory and Helena’s population
continued to grow. A. K. McClure wrote in 1867:

Helena has all the vim, recklessness, extravagance, and jolly progress of a new camp. It is but
little over two years old, but it boasts a population of 7,500 and more solid men, more capital,
more handsome and well-filled stores, more fast boys and frail women, more substance and
pretense, more virtue and vice, more preachers and groggeries, and more go-ahead activeness
generally than any other city in the mountain mining region.’

In 1868, with the continued growth of Helena and its increasing influence, the Montana Territorial
Legislature passed a bill allowing a vote to relocate the territorial capital from Virginia City to Helena.
Although Governor Green Clay Smith vetoed the bill, it illustrates the shifting power structure within the
territory with the decline of one gold camp and rise of another.

The first federal census taken in 1870 reported Helena’s population at approximately 3,000 people.
Although the town lost significant population when placer mining ceased toward the end of the 1860s,
Helena represented the largest urban area in the territory. Men outnumbered women three to one, and
residents originated from all over the world and every state, with the most significant ethnic groups in the
young community represented by Jews, Chinese, Irish, and African-Americans.®

Passage of a bill in Congress in 1874 to establish a federal assay office in Helena provided additional
prestige to the town.” Constructed in 1875 at the federal government’s expense, Helena shared the honor
of hosting such an office with only five other cities that included New York City, St. Louis, Charlotte
(N.C.), Deadwood, and Boise; the construction of the assay office in Helena illustrated the town's
strategic location on the projected route of the Northern Pacific, its importance as a regional center, and
its wealth.® The upward arc of the town continued as the capital moved to Helena in 1875. Along with
the seat of government came territorial offices and officials, boosting the town’s prestige and population
even further. The town continued to diversify beyond its mining roots as industries including a foundry,

* Michael P. Malone, Richard B. Roeder, and William L. Lang, Montana: A History of Two Centuries, rev ed. (Seattle:
University of Washington Press, 1991) p. 78.

> A. K. McClure, 3,000 Miles Through the Rocky Mountains, (Philadelphia: J. B. Lippincott and Co., 1869), p. 285.

U.S. Census Bureau, 1870 United States Federal Census, Population Schedules, Helena, Lewis and Clark County, Montana,
NARA microfilm publication M593. Washington, D.C.: National Archives and Records Administration.

718 Stat L., 45.

8 William A. Richardson, ed., Supplement to the Revised Statutes of the United States, Volume I: Legislation of 1874-1881,
(Washington D.C.: Government Printing Office, 1881), p. 23; William M. McKinney, ed., Federal Statutes Annotated Second

Edition, Volume I1: Birds to Customs Duties, (Northport, Long Island, New York: Edward Thompson Company, 1917), pp. 320-
321.
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several breweries and brickworks, lime kilns for the manufacture of mortar, and stone quarries opened
and operated.’

Helena’s Physical Development

The 1880s witnessed a period of expansion and building activity, which stemmed partly from an influx of
new residents arriving on the Northern Pacific, and partly from the anticipation of the territory obtaining
statehood finally on the horizon. At least 425 houses were built in 1888 alone.'® Not only did the arrival
of the railroad link Helena to outside markets, it assured its survival. Statehood arrived by 1889, and
construction in the Queen City of the Rockies—so named in the late 1880s for its flamboyant architecture
and its wealthy residents—reached a fever pitch. Illustrating the construction craze, the Helena City
Directory of 1889 lists nine architectural firms, four brick manufacturers, two stone quarries, eight lumber
companies, three tile manufacturers, five stone contractors, fourteen carpenters, eight painters, four
wallpapers, three calciminers, four cornice manufacturers, three mantel firms, and two sky light
manufacturers.''

Although the founders laid out Helena’s townsite in 1864-65, city planners hired a professional surveyor
to correct and confirm the lots and blocks in 1884. Not surprisingly, the first additions represent the
earliest residential areas that border the original townsite immediately to the north and the west. The
Maudline-Storey and Hauser Additions, platted in 1879 and 1880 respectively, appear along the east slope
of Mount Helena, and constitute the historic “West Side” neighborhood. The 1881 Easterly Addition
extends from the original townsite’s southeast edge. These and later additions sprang from what were
originally mining claims that ringed Last Chance Gulch:

With little or no thought to actually mining the land, filing a claim upon it was tantamount to
gaining ownership. And enterprising miners, with an eye to the future and ambition to establish a
permanent city, quickly claimed all of the land surrounding the townsite. The government land
office, established in Helena in 1867, deeded the title of the land to those having filed claims,
creating the basis for a quick fortune in real estate development. The next step in the process was
the surveying, sub-dividing and filing of addition plats to the city with the county commissioners.
Then, sale of lots to prospective builders and real estate investors and speculators completed the
process."?

In keeping with this pattern, Virginian and miner George W. Barker filed an entry to the south half of
the southeast quarter and the northeast quarter of the southeast quarter of Section 24 and the northeast
quarter of the northeast quarter of Section 25 in Township 10 North, Range 4 West before 1869, and

°Ellen Baumler, “Helena, Montana,” in Gordon Morris Bakken and Alexandra Kindell, eds., Encyclopedia of Immigration and
Migration in the American West, (Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications, Inc., 2006), pp. 298-302,
http://dx.doi.org/10.4135/9781412952439.n135.

19 Herbert L. Jacobson, Donald L. Byrd, and Chere Jiusto, Helena: A Historic City, prepared for the City of Helena and
MTSHPO, January, 1982, p. 9.

A W. Ide, City Directory, Helena, MT, 1889, (Helena, MT: A. W. Ide, 1889).

12 Jacobson, Herbert L, Byrd, Donald, L. and Juisto, Chere. Helena: A Historic City. Montana Historical Society, 1982, p.11.
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received his cash entry patent for it on February 10, 1871." He quickly sold it, before confirmation of
his patent, to the first of a long line of women present in the chain of title for the property. Deeds
show that Barker sold his claim to Lizzie A. and Rachel G. Brooke on November 27, 1869. By 1870,
Barker had moved on, mining in the Deer Lodge area.'* Born in Virginia, the sisters arrived in
Montana in 1865 via Kansas with their widowed mother and brothers, Benjamin and Edward. Rachel
never married and died at age 49 on January 18, 1877, having sold her share of the property to Lizzie
the year before. As was common legal practice in the United States, Lizzie shared ownership of the
property with her husband, A.H. Barrett, after she married. The couple sold the property to local
businessman Charles A. Broadwater on July 16, 1881 for $16,000." Broadwater planned to develop
north and west of the city, and platted several additions, which included the land purchased from
Lizzie and her husband:

A study of the additions to the city and the dates they were filed reveals its pattern of growth.
However, like every other city, large portions of each division were not built upon before other
additions were added. That is, there were many unoccupied city lots even as the perimeter of the
city was being enlarged. For example, both the Lennox Addition on the eastside and the Kenwood
Addition on the westside were created in 1890 —at least two miles from the extremities of the city.
Yet it was not until the late 1950’s and 1960’s that the town eventually built out to join them.

...In both 1883 and 1887 there were eight additions added, the former caused by the coming of the
Northern Pacific Railroad to Helena in June of that year. During the years 1888 and 1889, six

more were added each year. By the year 1893, a watershed had been crossed in the development of
Helena. From that date until 1948, only two small additions were added to the city.'®

One of the eight additions platted in 1887 included Broadwater #1 Addition. Named after its owner, the
addition was one of Charles A. Broadwater’s many investments and interests in the City of Helena, which
also included the Broadwater Hotel at the west end of town."” Following the pattern noted above, it
appears that relatively little construction took place in the neighborhood over the next few years.

In 1890, a plasterer and fledgling real estate entrepreneur named George B. Diehl purchased the lot on
which the Haight - Bridgwater House stands. Within the year, Diehl built a small house on the lot, clearly
noted on the 1890 American Publishing Company of Milwaukee perspective map of Helena. The map
unmistakably illustrates the one-story house on the northwest corner of Peosta and Benton, several

13 General Land Office, “Serial Patent No. 114, George Barker, 160 acres,” February 10, 1871, BLM Serial No. MTMTAA
051273.

4U.S. Census Bureau, /1870 United States Federal Census, Census Place: Pioneer and Pikes Peak, Deer Lodge, Montana
Territory, Roll: M593_827, Page: 90B, Image: 185, Family History Library Film, 552326.

15 Helena Independent, January 19, 1877 and May 17, 1878; “Warranty Deed, George W. Barker to Lizzie A and Rachel G.
Brooke,” November 27, 1869, Book K, Page 101 and “Warranty Deed, Rachel G. Brooke to Elizabeth A. Brooke,” January 24,
1876, Book Q, Page 384, Record #425, Lewis and Clark County Clerk and Recorders Office, Helena, MT; Charleen Spalding,
“Rachel G. Brooke, biographical entry,” FindAGrave.com, 2012, http://www.findagrave.com/cgi-
bin/fg.cgi?page=gr&GSIn=Brooke&GSiman=1&GScid=2173052&GRid=89886832&, accessed December 11, 2013.

1 Jacobson, Byrd, and Jiusto, Helena: A Historic City, pp. 11-12. See map of Helena and listing of Helena Additions on
continuation pages.

17 Jon Axline and Charleen Spalding, “Charles A. Broadwater House National Register Nomination,” on file at MT SHPO,
Helena, MT, 2007 (NR Reference # 08000825).

Section 8§ page 12



United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form

NPS Form 10-900 OMB No. 1024-0018
Haight - Bridgewater House Lewis and Clark, MT
Name of Property County and State

residences crowded on that block, and a streetcar line one block south that connected the city with
Broadwater’s developments west of town.'"® Two years later, the 1892 Sanborn map depicts many small
houses in the addition, most concentrated on the 1300 and 1400 blocks of Madison and Harrison, and the
500 and 900 blocks of Peosta Avenue, including the house constructed by Diehl, identified as Immanuel
Mission." This cluster of residences included Diehl’s home, and remains as the oldest part of the
neighborhood, which continued to grow slowly through the mid-twentieth century.

Baptists in Montana

As Helena grew, so did the town’s ethnic diversity. Several members of the burgeoning Helena
population were African-American, and they proved a strong and culturally rich segment of the
community. In addition to the presence of different ethnic groups, a number of religious organizations
founded churches within the city, contributing to the town's social history; among these groups were the
Baptists who sought out members of many ethnicities through their “Home Mission” program. Soon after
its construction, the house at 502 Peosta hosted one these Home Mission programs during the years 1891
and 1892, courtesy of Hattie L. Haight.

The following information pertaining to Baptists in Montana is from Baptist History in Montana
in Religion In Montana, Pathways to the Present, edited by Lawrence F. Small.”’

The origins of the Baptists in the New World harkens back to the establishment of two religious
communities by Roger Williams and Dr. John Clarke in the Rhode Island Colony in 1638.'
Dissemination of the English-American Baptist congregations along with Baptist groups from Europe
slowly spread to the other colonies. An 1832 convention of Baptist congregations created the American
Baptist Home Mission Society and the American Baptist Foreign Mission Society. The Home Mission
Society proved to be a catalyst for spreading the Baptist faith to the western territories, including
Montana.*

Baptists Ezra Fisher and Hezekiah Johnson passed through what was to become Montana Territory on
their way to Oregon in 1845, and Reverend A. M. Torbet attempted to organize a Baptist Church in
Virginia City in 1864.> While other denominations gained a foothold in the territory, it was not until
1880 that the American Baptist Home Mission Society, with encouragement and pleas from local
Baptists, ventured to appoint Reverend J. T. Mason of Sterling, Illinois as General Missionary for
Montana. Reverend Sterling arrived in Helena on December 5, 1880, and chartered the First Baptist
Church of Montana. The group originally met in the Lewis and Clark Courthouse, but after establishing

18 American Publishing Company, Perspective Map of the City of Helena, Mont. Capital of State, County Seat of Lewis & Clarke
Co., Map, (Milwaukee, 1890), Library of Congress Geography and Map Division Washington, D.C., Call Number G4254. H5A3
1890, A4 Oversize.

1 Sanborn Fire Insurance Company, Map of Helena, 1892, Sheets 21 and 22.

20 Flora K. Willett, PhD., “Baptist History in Montana,” in Lawrence F. Small, ed., Religion in Montana, Pathways to the
Present, Volume 1, (Billings, MT: Rocky Mountain College, 1992), pp. 201-228.

I Robert G. Torbet, A History of the Baptists: The Role of a Remnant, (Valley Forge, PA.: Judson Press, 1965), pp. 18-21.
22 Willett, “Baptist History in Montana,” p. 202.

2 Oscar Grindheim, History of the Baptist Work in Montana, (Thesis, Montana State University, Bozeman, MT, 1949), p.3.
Though a candidate for pastor, Torbet was not chosen to lead Virginia City’s church in December 1884, and it was instead
dedicated as the Union Church. Torbet left the town in 1865. Willett, “Baptist History in Montana,” p. 203.
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their Sunday school shifted to a hall on Broadway, then to the Southern Methodist Church on North
Warren Avenue. Within four years, in 1884, the First Baptist Church of Montana edifice was dedicated
and opened on the corner of Warren Street and Eighth Avenue; despite fire and earthquake damage, the
church remains at this location.**

By 1883, Baptist churches had been established in numerous Montana towns. In an effort to assist each
other, nine churches, including Helena's, organized the Montana Baptist Association of the Territory of
Montana, the predecessor of the present Big Sky Area Churches of the Northwest Region of American
Baptist Churches/USA.” Affiliated with the state organization were the "Ladies Aid" societies. These
groups provided valuable help in raising money for new churches. These early groups reorganized in
1883 as the Women's Home and Foreign Mission Society for Montana which morphed, by 1887, into the
Baptist Women's Territorial Board of Mission, Home and Foreign.*®

As the Baptists in Montana, including those in Helena, became more established, they launched satellite
schools, referred to as mission schools. These schools often catered to different ethnicities, including the
Chinese and African-American communities.”” These home missions offered Sunday school instruction,
lectures, and services, and often were hosted in residences or in rented rooms in the city. Following this
established pattern, Mrs. Hattie Haight and her family offered their home at 502 Peosta for use as the
Im